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Ernst & Young LLP
300 First Stamford Place
Stamford, CT 06902

 Tel:  +1 203 674 3000

www.ey.com

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Stockholders
Rain Carbon, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rain Carbon Inc. and Subsidiaries, (“the Company”)
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent
of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free of
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
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 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period
of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

March 13, 2025
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(in millions of dollars)

Assets Note
December 
31, 2024

December 
31, 2023

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2d 137.4$        91.9$          
Restricted cash 2d 2.1              4.1              

186.0          247.9          
Due from affiliated companies 7&15 11.7            51.5            
Inventories 9c 334.6          358.4          
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 29.1            22.5            
Current tax receivables 8.4              16.2            

Total current assets 709.3          792.5          
Investments 7 136.2          144.8          
Property, plant and equipment, net 3 507.5          548.5          
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 8 61.4            49.7            
Goodwill, net 6 484.9          495.1          
Intangible assets, net 5 8.6              17.3            
Loan to related parties 15 -              5.5              
Deferred income tax assets 10 -              1.5              
Other non-current assets 10.1            9.0              

Total assets  $     1,918.0  $     2,063.9 

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 174.7$        161.5$        
Due to affiliated companies 7&15 4.1              5.0              
Accrued liabilities 9a 86.6            80.7            
Current tax liabilities 1.0              0.3              
Short-term and current portion of long-term debt 11 139.9          105.3          

Total current liabilities 406.3          352.8          
Long-term debt, less current portion and debt issuance cost 11 757.8          856.1          
Accrued post-retirement benefit obligation 13 92.2            104.5          
Other non-current liabilities 9b 70.5            66.0            
Deferred income tax liabilities 10 34.4            34.3            
Stockholders' equity

Additional paid-in capital 345.1          345.1          
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (205.8)         (180.9)         
Retained earnings 384.6          450.7          

RCI stockholders' equity 523.9          614.9          
Non-controlling interests 32.9            35.3            

Total stockholders' equity 556.8          650.2          
Commitments and contingencies 16

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 1,918.0$     2,063.9$     

Trade accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts 
of $ 2.6 in 2024 and $ 1.8 in 2023)
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(in millions of dollars) Note 2024 2023

Revenue, net 14 1,544.6$  1,935.2$  
Cost of goods sold 1,367.8    1,700.1    
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 79.9         77.8         
Depreciation and amortisation 2(l),3&5 74.2         78.8         
Long-lived asset impairment loss 4 8.6           3.1           
Goodwill impairment loss 6 -          97.4         
Other operating income 0.7           3.1           

Operating income / (loss) 14.8         (18.9)        

Interest expense / (income), net 102.9       88.4         
(Gain)/loss on foreign currency transactions, net (9.8)         1.2           
Other income, net (35.0)        (20.3)        

Income / (loss) before income taxes (43.3)        (88.2)        

Income tax expense, net 10 14.2         28.4         

Net income / (loss) (57.5)        (116.6)      

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 0.6           9.0           

Net income / (loss) attributable to RCI stockholders (58.1)$      (125.6)$    
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(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Net income (57.5)$                        (116.6)$                  
Changes in other comprehensive income / (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (29.1)                        (23.4)                     
Pension and other post-retirement benefit plans

Net actuarial gain / (loss) (net of tax) 3.2                           (6.9)                       
Total comprehensive income / (loss) (83.4)                        (146.9)                   

(0.4)                          0.4                        
Comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to RCI stockholders' (83.0)$                      (147.3)$                 
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests

 

Accumulated other Comprehensive loss 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is disclosed as a separate component of Stockholder’s equity in 

the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 

2024 and December 31, 2023 consist of the following: 

 

(in millions of dollars)

Foreign 
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Defined 
Benefit
Pension 

Items

Other Total

Begining balance at January 1, 2023 (201.2)$          27.5$              (0.5)$               (174.2)$           
Net current period change 0.2                 (6.9)                 -                  (6.7)                 

Ending balance at December 31, 2023 (201.0)$          20.6$              (0.5)$               (180.9)$           

Begining balance at January 1, 2024 (201.0)$          20.6$              (0.5)$               (180.9)$           
Net current period change (28.1)              3.2                  -                  (24.9)               

Ending balance at December 31, 2024 (229.1)$          23.8$              (0.5)$               (205.8)$           
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The related tax effects allocated to each component of accumulated other comprehensive income / (loss) 
for the period ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023: 
 
(in millions of dollars)

2024
Before-tax 

amount
Tax (expense) or 

benefit
Net-of-tax 

amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments (29.1)$              -$                    (29.1)$     
Pension and post-retirement benefits:

Net actuarial gain / (loss) 5.8                   (2.6)                     3.2          
 Pension and other post-retirement benefit plans 5.8                   (2.6)                     3.2          

Other comprehensive income / (loss) (23.3)$              (2.6)$                   (25.9)$     

2023
Before-tax 

amount
Tax (expense) or 

benefit
Net-of-tax 

amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments (23.4)$              -$                    (23.4)$     
Pension and post-retirement benefits:

Net actuarial gain / (loss) (11.1)                4.2                      (6.9)         
 Pension and other post-retirement benefit plans (11.1)                4.2                      (6.9)         

Other comprehensive income / (loss) (34.5)$              4.2$                    (30.3)$      
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Accumulated Equity

Additional Other attributable Total
Paid-in Comprehensive Retained to RCI Non-controlling Stockholders’

(in millions of dollars) capital Income (Loss) Earnings Stockholder's * Interests equity
Balances at January 1, 2023 345.1$      (174.2)$             533.0$         703.9$           81.1$              785.0$          
Dividends declared -            -                    (13.0)            (13.0)              (3.3)                 (16.3)             
Net income / (loss) -            -                    (125.6)          (125.6)            9.0                  (116.6)           
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments** -            (14.8)                 -               (14.8)              (8.6)                 (23.4)             
Net change in pension and other  
  post-retirement benefits -            (6.9)                   -               (6.9)                -                  (6.9)               

-            15.0                  56.3             71.3               (42.9)               28.4              
Balances at December 31, 2023 345.1$      (180.9)$             450.7$         614.9$           35.3$              650.2$          

Balances at January 1, 2024 345.1$      (180.9)$             450.7$         614.9$           35.3$              650.2$          
Dividends declared -            -                    (8.0)              (8.0)                (2.0)                 (10.0)             
Net income / (loss) -            -                    (58.1)            (58.1)              0.6                  (57.5)             
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments** -            (28.1)                 -               (28.1)              (1.0)                 (29.1)             
Net change in pension and other  
  post-retirement benefits -            3.2                    -               3.2                 -                  3.2                

Balances at December 31, 2024 345.1$      (205.8)$             384.6$         523.9$           32.9$              556.8$          
* Refer note 12 for details of common stock
** Includes net Gain /(loss) on net investment in foreign operation amounting to $ 10.2 million (December 31, 2023  - $ (7.2) mn)(Refer note 19)
*** Refer note 18 for details on disposal of subsidiaries

Gain/Adjustments on disposal of subsidiary in a 
common control transaction***
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(in millions of dollars)

For the
year ended

December 31, 2024

For the
year ended

December 31, 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income / (loss) (57.5)$                        (116.6)$                      
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net 
cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortisation 74.2                           78.8                           
Long-lived asset impairment loss 8.6                             3.1                            
Goodwill impairment loss -                             97.4                           
Amortisation of deferred finance costs 7.6                             7.5                            
Deferred income tax (benefit) / expense (0.8)                            10.0                           
(Gain) / Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (net) 0.2                             (0.8)                           
Loss on re-purchase/redemption of senior secured notes -                             0.3                            
Exchange (gain) / loss on monetary items (8.2)                            1.0                            
Share of income in Equity affiliated company (0.3)                            (0.1)                           
Other non cash items 0.9                             (2.4)                           
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Trade, current tax and other receivables 64.9                           40.2                           
Due from affiliated companies 0.1                             (13.9)                         
Inventories 8.9                             163.7                         
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (20.9)                          (2.5)                           
Trade and other payables 21.3                           (23.1)                         
Due to affiliated companies (0.9)                            2.3                            
Current tax and accrued liabilities 1.9                             (1.8)                           

Net cash provided by operating activities 100.0                         243.1                         
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividend received - Current Investments -                             0.3                            
Divesture of investment 21.9                           (88.5)                         
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment -                             0.1                            
Loan repaid by affiliates 7.4                             20.0                           
Capital expenditures (48.2)                          (50.8)                         
Refund of Capital Advances 3.6                             -                            
Loan to affiliates (2.0)                            (24.6)                         

Net cash used in investing activities (17.3)                          (143.5)                        
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term debt -                             827.5                         
Proceeds from short-term debt 155.9                         118.0                         
Principal payments on long-term debt (41.4)                          ` (916.9)                        
Principal payments on short-term debt (141.2)                        (171.5)                        
Principal payment on finance leases (0.5)                            (0.7)                           
Payments of financing cost (0.5)                            (14.0)                         
Dividends paid to RCI Stockholders (6.0)                            (12.0)                         
Dividends paid to Non-controlling interests (2.0)                            (3.3)                           

Net cash used in financing activities (35.7)                          (172.9)                        
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(in millions of dollars)

For the
year ended

December 31, 2024

For the
year ended

December 31, 2023
 

 
 

(3.5)                             (4.0)                            

43.5                            (77.3)                          

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Beginning of the year 96.0                            173.3                          
End of the year 139.5$                        96.0$                          
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for interest 104.3$                        70.1$                          
Cash paid during the year for income taxes 11.8                            30.2                           
Supplemental non-cash investing activity information
Accrued capital expenditures 6.7$                            8.6$                           

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
and restricted cash         

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
and  restricted cash
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1. Description of Business 

Rain Carbon Inc. (the “Company” or “RCI”) is a leading vertically integrated global producer and up 
cycler of a diversified portfolio of carbon based and advanced material products that are essential 
raw materials for staples of everyday life.  The Company along with its subsidiaries (“the Group” or 
“RCI Group”) operates in two business segments: Carbon and Advanced Materials.  

Carbon comprises of Calcined Petroleum Coke (“CPC”), Coal Tar Pitch (“CTP”), Energy produced 
through Waste-heat recovery and other derivatives of Coal Tar distillation. Advanced Materials 
represent the downstream operations of Coal Tar distillation and are comprised of Engineered 
Products, Chemical Intermediaries and Resins. 
 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

a. Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the 
accounts of RCI and its majority-owned subsidiaries that are required to be consolidated. All inter-
company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 

The Group consolidates entities in which it has a controlling financial interest based on either the 
variable interest entity (VIE) or voting interest model. The Group is required to first apply the VIE 
model to determine whether it holds a variable interest in an entity, and if so, whether the entity is a 
VIE. If the Group determines it does not hold a variable interest in a VIE, it then applies the voting 
interest model. Under the voting interest model, it consolidates an entity when it holds a majority 
voting interest in an entity. When a disposal takes place, the Group deconsolidates the subsidiary as 
of the date the reporting entity ceases to have a controlling financial interest. Full gain or loss is 
recognized in net income in the period of deconsolidation or derecognition. In case the disposal is 
within common control, any difference in the amount paid (or payable) by the transferee versus the 
historical cost of the assets transferred to the transferee is recorded as an adjustment to equity 
(retained earnings). A subsequent adjustment to the amount paid (or payable) to the transferor is 
also recorded in equity (retained earnings). 

In cases where the Group does not fully own a subsidiary, it values any remaining outstanding non-
controlling interest at the end of reporting period at its proportionate share of the value of the net 
identified assets. 

The equity method is used to account for investments in affiliates in which the Group can exercise 
significant influence over the affiliates’ operating and financial policies. When the Group does not 
have the ability to exercise significant influence, the investment is classified as available-for-sale 
under fair value method, if fair value is readily determinable or under cost method, if fair value is not 
readily determinable. 

b. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We review our estimates on an ongoing 
basis, based on currently available information. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include allowance for doubtful accounts, 
the useful lives of fixed assets, estimated obsolescence of inventory, valuation of long-lived assets 
and goodwill, valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, 
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environmental liabilities, post-retirement and pension obligations, commitments and contingencies 
and valuation of derivatives. 
 
c. Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are reported in U.S. dollars. The translation 
from the respective functional currencies to the U.S. dollar is performed using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet dates for assets and liabilities and average exchange rates prevailing 
during the reporting periods for revenue, costs, and expenses. 
 
Adjustments resulting from such translation are accumulated and reported as other comprehensive 
income (loss), a separate component of equity. 

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are restated at the 
prevailing year-end rates. The resulting gain/loss along with the realized gain/loss on account of 
foreign currency transactions are accounted for in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 
d. Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash 

All highly liquid, short-term investments with original maturities of less than or equal to three months 
when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include $ 18.7 
and $15.8 million of certificates of deposit with an initial term of less than three months at        
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 

Restricted cash consists of cash balances which are legally or contractually restricted for usage or 
withdrawal. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 
reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet to the total of the amounts in the Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows. 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Cash and cash equivalents 137.4$                       91.9$                         
Restricted cash 2.1                             4.1                            

139.5$                       96.0$                         
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in 
consolidated statement of cash flows  

e. Revenue Recognition 

The Group recognizes revenue when it satisfies performance obligations under the terms of its 
contracts, and control of its products is transferred to its customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration the Group expects to receive from its customers in exchange for those products. This 
process involves identifying the customer contract, determining the performance obligations in the 
contract, determining the contract price, allocating the contract price to the distinct performance 
obligations in the contract, and recognizing revenue when the performance obligations have been 
satisfied. A performance obligation is considered distinct from other obligations in a contract when it 
(a) provides a benefit to the customer either on its own or together with other resources that are 
readily available to the customer and (b) is separately identified in the contract. The Group considers 
a performance obligation satisfied once it has transferred control of a good or product to a customer, 
meaning the customer has the ability to use and obtain the benefit of the product. 

Shipping and other transportation costs charged to buyers are recorded in both sales and cost of 
sales. 
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Taxes assessed by a government authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a specific 
revenue-producing transaction, that are collected by the Company from a customer, are excluded 
from sales. 

The Group derives its revenue from the sale of carbon and advanced materials products. Sales are 
made to domestic and international customers whereby the prices are subject to negotiations based 
on movements in raw material prices, levels of offtake, demand and supply situation in the market. 
Such prices are agreed through a formal contract. The discounts offered to these customers are 
mostly contractually agreed. Certain discounts are recognized as and when the negotiations thereon 
are completed, and the rates are agreed.  
 
Revenue from sale of carbon products also include sale of co-generated energy generated in the 
production process which is sold to industrial consumers in accordance with the underlying contract 
terms and 
is recorded exclusive of electricity duty payable to Government authorities. 

 
The Group recognises revenue when control of the product is transferred to the customer in 
accordance with the underlying terms of arrangements. The terms of sales arrangements, customer 
acceptance terms including the timing of transfer of control, are varied and could affect the timing of 
recognition of the sales.  
  
Composition of revenue based on timing of transfer of goods or services: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Revenue from Operations recognised at a point of time 1,544.5$                 1,934.9$             
Revenue from Operations recognised over a point of time 0.1                         0.3                     

Total 1,544.6$                 1,935.2$              

 
Contract Assets and Liabilities: 

Contract assets primarily represent revenue earnings over time that are not yet billable based on the 
terms of the contracts. The Company does not have impairment losses associated with contracts 
with customers for the period ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

Contract liabilities consist of fees invoiced or paid by the Company’s customers for which the 
associated performance obligations have not been satisfied and revenue has not been recognized 
based on the Company’s revenue recognition criteria described above.  
 
Contract assets and contract liabilities are reported in a net position on an individual contract basis 
at the end of each reporting period. Contract assets are classified as current on the consolidated 
balance sheet when the Company expects to complete the related performance obligations and 
invoice the customers within one year of the balance sheet date, and as long-term when the Company 
expects to complete the related performance obligations and invoice the customers more than one 
year out from the balance sheet date. Contract liabilities are classified as current on the consolidated 
balance sheets when the revenue recognition associated with the related customer payments and 
invoicing is expected to occur within one year of the balance sheet date and as long-term when the 
revenue recognition associated with the related customer payments and invoicing is expected to 
occur in more than one year from the balance sheet date. 
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The following table provides the details of contract assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated 
balance sheets: 
 
(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Contract assets 1.4$                           2.1$                           
Contract liabilities 0.6                           0.7                            

 
f. Trade Accounts Receivable 
 
The Group grants credit to its customers based on periodic credit evaluations of customers’ financial 
condition and generally does not require collateral but may require letters of credit for certain 
international sales. The Group records an allowance for credit losses (ECL) under Subtopic 326-20 
Financial Instruments- Credit Losses – Measured at Amortized Cost for estimated losses inherent in 
its trade accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required allowance, management considers 
historical losses adjusted to take into account current market conditions and the Group’s customers’ 
financial condition, the amount receivables in dispute, and the current receivables ageing and current 
payment patterns.  
 
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Amounts 
collected on trade accounts receivable are included in net cash provided by operating activities in the 
consolidated statements of cash flows. 
 
g. Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and consist principally of raw 
material, finished goods, work in progress, stores, spares and supplies. Cost is determined using the 
weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses. The Group reviews its 
inventory balances and writes down its inventories for estimated obsolescence or excess inventories 
equal to the difference between the cost of inventories and the estimated market value based upon 
assumptions about future demand and market conditions. The cost of inventories includes production 
costs and depreciation expense.  
 
h. Property, Plant, and Equipment 
 
Property, plant, and equipment is carried at cost and includes improvements, which significantly 
increase capacities or extend useful lives of existing plant and equipment and consists primarily of 
buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, furnishings and land, which is being 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets (except for land).  
When fixed assets are sold or retired, cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the 
accounts, and gains or losses are recorded in consolidated statements of operations. 

Cost of acquired assets includes purchase price, import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, 
after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any other directly attributable cost of bringing the item 
to its working condition for its intended use such as initial delivery, handling costs and installation 
costs.  

Cost of a self-constructed asset comprises the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the item to working condition for its intended use such as costs of site 
preparation and remediation, estimated costs of dismantling and removing/disposal of the item and 
restoring the site on which it is located.  

Subsequent expenditure related to an asset is capitalized only if it increases the future benefits from 
the existing assets beyond its previously assessed standards of performance.  



RAIN Carbon Inc. And Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023  

14 

Advances paid towards acquisition of assets outstanding at each balance sheet date are grouped 
under other non-current assets as capital advances. 

Cost of assets not ready for intended use, as on the balance sheet date, is shown as construction in 
progress under property, plant and equipment, net.  

When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 
depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major overhaul is 
performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement 
if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in profit 
or loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after 
its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.  

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Plant and equipment held under finance leases are stated at the present value of minimum lease 
payments and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or estimated 
useful life of the asset. 

Interest expense is capitalized for qualifying assets under construction, if any. Capitalized interest 
costs are included in property, plant and equipment and are depreciated over the useful life of the 
related asset. 

The estimated useful lives for depreciation purposes are:  

Buildings and improvements 1–50 years
Machinery and equipment 1–40 years  

The Group evaluates impairment of its property, plant, and equipment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. If 
circumstances require an asset be tested for possible impairment, the Group first compares 
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by an asset to the carrying value of the asset. If 
the carrying value of the long-lived asset is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, 
impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds its fair value.  Fair value is 
determined through various valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models, quoted 
market values, and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary (see note 4) 

i. Leases 
 
The Group accounts for leases in accordance with Topic 842, Leases (see Note 8). The Group 
determines if an arrangement contains a lease at the inception of a contract. Right-of-use assets 
represent the Group’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term are presented on the face 
of the balance sheet and lease liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to make lease payments 
arising from the lease are grouped under accrued and other non-current liabilities. Right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the 
present value of the remaining future minimum lease payments. The lease liability is subsequently 
measure at amortized cost using the effective-interest method.  
 
Key estimates and judgements include how the Group determines (1) the discount rate it uses to 
discount the unpaid lease payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease payments. 
 
Topic 842 requires a lessee to discount its unpaid lease payments using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, its incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the 
Group cannot determine the interest rate implicit in the lease because it does not have access to 
the lessor’s estimated residual value or the amount of the lessor’s deferred initial direct costs. 
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The present value of the lease payments is calculated using the incremental borrowing rate for 
operating and finance leases, which is determined using a portfolio approach based on the rate of 
interest that we would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a 
collateralized basis over a similar term. The Group uses the unsecured borrowing rate and risk-adjust 
that rate to approximate a collateralized rate in the currency of the lease. 
 
Certain lease contracts include obligations to pay for other services, such as operations and 
maintenance. Such operations and maintenance charges are not part of lease expense and are 
recorded separately. 
 
When the contracts contain the option to extend the lease term, terminate the lease before the 
contractual expiration date, or purchase the leased asset, and if it is reasonably certain that Group 
will exercise the option, we consider these options in determining the classification and measurement 
of the lease.  
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 
- Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, owed over the lease term (includes 

termination penalties the Group would owe if the lease term reflect its exercise of a termination 
option); 
 

- Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate at the lease commencement date; 

 
- Amounts expected to be payable under a Group-provided residual value guarantee; and 

 
- The exercise price of a Group option to purchase the underlying asset if the Group is reasonably 

certain to exercise the option. 
 

The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred less any lease incentives received. 
 
For operating leases, the ROU asset is subsequently measured throughout the lease term at the 
carrying amount of the lease liability, plus initial direct costs, plus (minus) any prepaid (accrued) lease 
payments, less the unamortized balance of lease incentives received. Lease expense for lease 
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
For finance leases, the ROU asset is subsequently amortized using the straight-line method from the 
lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of its useful life or the end of the lease term unless 
the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group or the Group is reasonably certain 
to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset. In those cases, the ROU asset is amortized 
over the useful life of the underlying asset. Amortization of the ROU asset is recognized and 
presented separately from interest expense on the lease liability. 
 
Variable lease payments associated with the Group’s leases are recognized when the event, activity, 
or circumstance in the lease agreement on which those payments are assessed occurs. Variable 
lease payments are presented as operating expense in the Group’s consolidated statements of 
operations in the same line item as expense arising from fixed lease payments (operating leases) or 
amortization of the ROU asset (finance leases). 
 
Costs associated with operating lease assets or short-term leases are recognized on a straight-line 
basis within operating expenses over the term of the lease. Finance lease assets are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or, in the instance 
where title does not transfer at the end of the lease term included under depreciation and amortization 



RAIN Carbon Inc. And Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023  

16 

expense. The interest component of a finance lease is included in interest expense and recognized 
using the effective interest method over the lease term. 

 
The Group uses the long-lived assets impairment guidance in Subtopic 360-10, Property, Plant, and 
Equipment – Overall, to determine whether a ROU asset is impaired, and if so, the amount of the 
impairment loss to recognize. See Note 2(h). 
 
The Group monitors for events or changes in circumstances that require a reassessment of one of 
its leases. When a reassessment results in the remeasurement of a lease liability, a corresponding 
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the corresponding ROU asset unless doing so would 
reduce the carrying amount of the ROU asset to an amount less than zero. In that case, the ROU 
asset is reduced to zero and the remainder of the adjustment is recorded in profit or loss. 
 
The Group has elected not to recognize Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less. 
 
j. Intangible Assets 
 
Identifiable intangible assets, other than goodwill and in process research and development 
(“IP/R&D”), are recorded at cost. Intangible assets that do not have indefinite lives are amortized on 
a systematic basis over their estimated useful lives.  
 
The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are: 

            Customer contracts                         7 - 15 years  
            Trade names                                   8 - 15 years   
            IP/R&D                                                                    15 years 
            Others                               2 -13 years  
 
The Group evaluates impairment of its intangible assets on an individual basis whenever 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recovered. If circumstances require an 
asset be tested for possible impairment, the Group first compares undiscounted cash flows expected 
to be generated by an asset to the carrying value of the asset. If the carrying value of the intangible 
asset is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, impairment is recognized to the extent 
that the carrying value exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined through various valuation 
techniques including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values, and third-party 
independent appraisals, as considered necessary. 
 
k. Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents cost in excess of fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations. 
Goodwill is reviewed for potential impairment at least annually or more frequently if circumstances 
indicate that a potential impairment has occurred.  
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and more frequently when there is a triggering event. The 
Company first performs a qualitative assessment by evaluating all relevant events and circumstances 
to determine if it is more likely than not that the Goodwill is impaired; this includes considering any 
potential effect on significant inputs to determining the fair value of the Goodwill. When it is more 
likely than not that the Goodwill is impaired, then the Company calculates the fair value of the 
Goodwill and performs a quantitative impairment test. An impairment loss is recognized as the 
difference, if any, between the reporting unit’s carrying amount and its fair value, to the extent the 
difference does not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. 
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The annual testing of goodwill is based on carrying value and the estimate of fair value as of 
November 30. 
 
Refer note 6 for results of the testing of goodwill for the year 2024. 
 
A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or a component of an operating segment. 
Accordingly, the following are considered as reporting units for the above assessment: 

a. Calcination business forming part of Carbon Segment 

b. Carbon distillation business (other than (c) below) forming part of Carbon Segment 

c. Carbon distillation business - OOO RÜTGERS Severtar forming part of Carbon Segment 
(until June 30, 2023) 

d. Advanced materials business 

l. Plant Turnaround Costs 
 
Certain major maintenance items require plant shutdown for a period of time to perform periodic 
overhauls and refurbishment activities necessary to sustain long-term production. The Group 
capitalizes periodic planned major maintenance activities (plant turnaround costs) and amortizes 
such costs over periods leading up to the next planned turnaround (generally 14 months). 
 
Included in prepaid expenses and other current assets is $6.7 million and $4.7 million of deferred 
plant turnaround costs as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. For the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, $9.5 million and $15.4 million, respectively, of plant turnaround 
cost were amortized within depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations. 
 
m. Deferred Finance Costs 

Deferred finance costs consist of debt financing fees, which are being amortized under effective 
interest rate method over the life of the instrument. 
 
The deferred finance cost of $14.9 million and $21.0 million for the period ended December 31, 2024 
and December 31, 2023, respectively are reduced from the long-term debt in consolidated balance 
sheet (refer note 11) 
 
Amortization of deferred finance costs is included in interest expense, net in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations and totaled $5.6 million and $7.5 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 

n. Derivatives and Hedging Activities 

The Group records its derivative instruments on the consolidated balance sheets at their respective 
fair values and any changes in fair value are recognized immediately in consolidated statements of 
operations, unless the derivatives qualify as hedges of future cash flows or net investments. For 
derivatives qualifying as hedges of future cash flows, the effective portion of changes in fair value are 
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until the related hedge items impact 
earnings. Any ineffective portion of a hedge is reported in earnings immediately. Fair values for 
derivative financial instruments are based upon quoted market prices, where available, or pricing 
models. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, there are no derivative instruments. 
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o. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Group utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the 
use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Group determines fair value based on 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in the principal or most 
advantageous market. 

The Group classifies assets and liabilities into one of three fair value levels depending on the 
observability of the input employed in the measurement as described below: 

(i) Level 1 inputs: inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.   

(ii) Level 2 inputs: Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

(iii) Level 3 inputs: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value to the extent 
that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability at measurement date.  

The Group classifies assets and liabilities in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement. The Group’s methodology for categorizing assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value pursuant to this hierarchy gives the highest priority to 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest level to unobservable inputs. 

The carrying amounts of cash, trade accounts receivable, trade and other payables and short-term 
debt approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. Additionally, the 
carrying amount of long-term debt (net of deferred finance cost) approximates fair value at December 
31, 2024, since long-term debt is at a rate consistent with market rates currently available to the 
Group.  

The following summarizes the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. Assets consist of the Group’s retirement plans and 
post-retirement benefits and derivative instruments, which are valued using quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities or directly or indirectly through market-corroborated input, 
and therefore, are classified as Level 1 or Level 2. 
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements 

Fair Value
as of

(in millions of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 December 31, 2024

Assets
Pension Plan Assets:

Mutual funds 9.6$           -$           9.6$                         
Insurer managed fund and others -            46.3           46.3                         

Total 9.6$          46.3$         55.9$                       

Fair Value
as of

Level 1 Level 2 December 31, 2023
(in millions of dollars)
Assets

Pension Plan Assets:
Mutual funds 9.1$            -$               9.1$                         
Insurer managed fund and others -            47.3           47.3                         

Total 9.1$          47.3$         56.4$                        

 

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements  

Long-lived assets within an asset group were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis at 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 due to an impairment recognized on those assets at 
that date (see Note 4). 

p. Income Taxes 
 
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases 
and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences reverse. The Group recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions 
are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the 
largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or 
measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. The Group records 
interest related to income tax in interest expense and tax related penalties in selling, general, and 
administrative expenses. 

The 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts & Jobs Act subject a U.S. shareholder to tax on Global Intangible Low-Taxed 
Income (GILTI) earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. The FASB Staff Q&A Topic 740 No. 5, 
Accounting for GILTI, states that an entity can make an accounting policy election to either recognize 
deferred taxes for temporary basis differences expected to reverse as GILTI in future years or to 
provide for the tax expense related to GILTI in the same year it is incurred as a period expense only. 
The Company has elected to account for GILTI in the year the tax is incurred. 
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CARES Act and CAA  
 
On March 27, 2020 and December 27, 2020, the President of the United States signed and enacted 
into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) and the Consolidated 
Appropriations Act, 2021 (CAA). Among other provisions, the CARES Act and the CAA provide relief 
to U.S. federal corporate taxpayers through temporary adjustments to net operating loss rules, 
changes to limitations on interest expense deductibility, and the acceleration of available refunds for 
minimum tax credit carryforwards. The CARES Act and the CAA did not have a material effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

q. Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses 

Selling, general, and administrative expenses include the compensation costs, legal and professional 
consultants, travel costs, and other general administrative expenses. 

r. Other (Income) / Expense, net 

Other (Income) / Expense primarily includes preference dividend and insurance claims. Preference 
dividend is recognized over the period based on fixed coupon rate of the instrument. Insurance claims 
are recognized only when a loss event had occurred and recovery is considered probable. 

 
s. Borrowing costs and capitalized interest 

Interest expense, net is the combination of interest expense associated with the outstanding debt of 
the Group and interest income.  

 
Interest on external borrowings is capitalized on major projects with an expected construction period 
of one year or longer. Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the underlying asset and is amortized 
over the useful lives of the assets in the same manner as the underlying assets. 
 
There is no interest capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. 
 
t. Environmental liabilities 

The Group accrues for remediation costs and penalties when the responsibility to remediate is 
probable and the amount of related cost is reasonably estimable. Remediation liabilities are 
discounted if the amount and timing of the cash disbursements are readily determinable. 
 
Recoveries of environmental remediation costs from third parties that are probable of realization are 
separately recorded as assets and are not offset against the related environmental liability. 

u. Commitments and Contingencies 

Amounts associated with litigation and contingencies are accrued when management, after taking 
into consideration the facts and circumstances of each matter including any settlement offers, has 
determined that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be 
reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as 
incurred. 

 
v. Recently Issued Accounting Standards and pronouncements 
 
Accounting Standards Adopted in the Current Year 
 
Accounting for convertible instruments and contracts: In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 
2020-06, Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and 
Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments 
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and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. ASU 2020-06 reduces the number of accounting models for 
convertible instruments and allows more contracts to qualify for equity classification. ASU 2020-06 is 
effective for the Company’s annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023. Adoption 
is either a modified retrospective method or a fully retrospective method of transition.  
 
The Group adopted this ASU in 2024 and determined that it does not have any impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
Business Combination - Accounting for Contract assets and liabilities: In October 2021, the 
FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and 
Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which provides an exception to fair value 
measurement for contract assets and contract liabilities related to revenue contracts acquired in a 
business combination. The ASU requires an entity (acquirer) to recognize and measure contract 
assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with Topic 606. At 
the acquisition date, an acquirer should account for the related revenue contracts in accordance with 
Topic 606 as if it had originated the contracts. The ASU is effective for the Company for annual and 
interim periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and is applied to business 
combinations occurring on or after the effective date.  
 
The Group adopted this ASU in 2024 and determined that it does not have any impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Leases – Common Control Arrangements: In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-01, Leases 
(Topic 842): Common Control Arrangements. The ASU provides a practical expedient for private 
companies and not-for-profit entities to use the written terms and conditions of a common control 
arrangement to determine whether a lease exists and, if so, the classification of and accounting for 
that lease. The ASU also clarifies the accounting for leasehold improvements associated with 
common control leases, thereby reducing diversity in practice. The amendments in this ASU affect 
all lessees that are a party to a lease between entities under common control in which there are 
leasehold improvements. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, 
including interim periods within those fiscal years. 
 
The Group adopted this ASU in 2024 and determined that it does not have any impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 

 
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures: In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, 
Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The ASU requires the annual 
financial statements to include consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the 
rate reconciliation, and income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. ASU 2023-09 is effective for 
the Company’s annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025. Adoption is either with 
a prospective method or a fully retrospective method of transition. Early adoption is permitted.  
 
The Group is currently evaluating the effect that adoption of ASU 2023-09 will have on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Stock Compensation: Scope Application of Profits Interest and Similar Awards: In March 2024, 
the FASB issued ASU 2024-01, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope 
Application of Profits Interest and Similar Awards. This ASU adds an illustrative example to 
demonstrate how an entity should apply the scope guidance in paragraph 718-10-15-3 to determine 
whether profits interest and similar awards should be accounted for in accordance with Topic 718. 
ASU 2024-01 is effective for the Company’s annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2025. Adoption is either with a prospective method or a fully retrospective method of transition. Early 
adoption is permitted.  
 
The Group does not expect the adoption of ASU 2024-01 to have a material effect on its 
consolidated financial statements.  
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Codification Improvements: In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-02, Codification 
Improvements—Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements. This ASU 
removes references to various FASB Concepts Statements to simplify the Codification and draw a 
distinction between authoritative and nonauthoritative literature. ASU 2024-02 is effective for the 
Company’s annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025. Adoption is either with a 
prospective method or a fully retrospective method of transition. Early adoption is permitted. 
 
 The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2024-02 to have a material effect on its 
consolidated financial statements.  
 
Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments: In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-
04, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20): Induced Conversions of 
Convertible Debt Instruments. This ASU clarifies the requirements for determining whether certain 
settlements of convertible debt instruments should be accounted for as induced conversions. ASU 
2024-04 is effective for the Company’s annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025. 
Adoption is either with a prospective method of transition or a retrospective method of transition that 
is retrospective to the later of the beginning of earliest period presented and the date the entity 
adopted ASU 2020-06. Early adoption is permitted for all entities that have adopted ASU 2020-06.  
 
The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2024-04 to have a material effect on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
  



RAIN Carbon Inc. And Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023  

23 

3. Property, Plant, and Equipment, net 

Property, plant, and equipment at December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023
 
Land 43.4$                          43.3$                        
Buildings and improvements 90.7                           87.1                        
Machinery and equipment* 879.5                         871.8                      
Construction in progress 54.6                           53.9                        

1,068.2                      1,056.1                    

Less:  Accumulated depreciation (560.7)                        (507.6)                     

507.5$                         548.5$                      

*includes assets under finance lease. Refer note 8 for details  

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $56.5 million and $54.1 
million, respectively. 

Impairment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $8.6 million and $3.1 million, 
respectively (refer note 4 for details). 

 
4. Impairment of long-lived assets 

The Group has re-evaluated the status of certain projects which are under Construction in progress 
in the foreign subsidiaries. Based on the current status and the management evaluation, the Group 
had recognized an impairment charge of $8.6 million in the consolidated statement of operations for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 ($3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023). 
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5. Intangible Assets, net 

Intangible assets are comprised of the following as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Intangible assets with definite life
Customer contracts 206.2$                         214.3$                         
Trade names 83.1 86.7
IPR&D 10.4 11.1
Others 15.8 17.0

Total intangible assets 315.5 329.1
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Customer contracts (206.2)                        (208.7)                         
Trade names (79.7)                          (81.7)                          
IPR&D (5.5)                            (5.2)                            
Others (15.5)                          (16.2)                          

Total accumulated amortisation (306.9)                        (311.8)                         
Intangible assets, net 8.6$                            17.3$                            

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $8.2 million and $9.3 
million, respectively. 

The estimated intangible asset amortization expenses for each of the next five years and thereafter 
are as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024

2025 2.3$                           
2026 2.1                             
2027 1.5                             
2028 0.7                             
2029 0.7                             
Thereafter 1.3                             

8.6$                            

6. Goodwill 

(in millions of dollars)

Carbon 
Calcination

Carbon 
Distillation - 

Other than OOO 
RÜTGERS 
Severtar

Carbon 
Distillation - 

OOO 
RÜTGERS 
Severtar*

Advanced 
Materials

Total

Beginning balance at January 1, 2023 344.1$         103.2$                 11.0$          135.4$      593.7$      
Currency translation (0.1)              7.0                      (3.6)            2.9            6.2           
Impairment loss -               -                      -             (97.4)         (97.4)        

Adjustments due to disposal of subsidiary in a 
common control transaction (Refer note 18)

-               -                      (7.4)            -            (7.4)          

Ending balance at December 31, 2023 344.0$         110.2$                 -$           40.9$        495.1$      
Currency translation (0.8)              (6.9)                     -             (2.5)           (10.2)        
Ending balance at December 31, 2024 343.2$         103.3$                 -$           38.4$        484.9$       
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* Subsequent to the conflict in Europe, OOO RUTGERS Severtar is operating largely independent of 
the Group and hence considered as a separate reporting unit for the purpose of impairment testing 
of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

During 2023, the Group has seen confluence of geopolitical situations, macroeconomic factors, 
including rising interest rates on long term debt and volatility in energy costs impacting the economic 
environment in which all our Four Reporting Units operate. In light of these uncertainties, the Group 
has undertaken rigorous assessment of its impact on each Reporting Unit. Due to these 
macroeconomic factors, the recoverable values in one of its Reporting Units is below its carrying-
value due to significant increase in cost of capital during the previous year and increase in operating 
costs. Considering the recoverable amounts based on fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-
use estimates, the Group recognized a non-cash impairment charge towards Goodwill in 
Consolidated Statement of Operations amounting to $ 97.4 million in Advanced Materials. 

7. Investments 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Investments
Equity method investments 1.5$                         1.3$                         
Other investments 134.7                      143.5                      

136.2$                      144.8$                       

Other investments:  

During 2023, the Group completed the sale of its entire holding of 65.3% shares in Cypriot joint 
venture company which resulted in exchange of investment in preference shares amounting to 
$124.7 million (EUR 120.0 million) which are redeemable after completion of 21 years carrying 
cumulative dividend of EUR 25 million per annum which is accounted using the cost method. 

Balance represents the long-term investment in Arsol Aromatics GmbH & Co. KG (“Arsol”) located in 
Germany amounting to $10.0 million as at December 31, 2024 ($ 10.7 million as at December 31, 
2023), which is accounted for using the cost method. Arsol is engaged in the business of refining 
crude benzene. The cost method is applied as the Group does not exercise significant influence over 
Arsol. 

The changes in carrying value of these investments is due to foreign currency fluctuations during the 
year. 

Equity method investments: 

The Group holds an investment in InfraTec Duisburg GmbH (“InfraTec”), a 30 percent owned 
infrastructure service company located in Germany, acquired as part of the acquisition of RÜTGERS 
Group. No dividend was received for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.  

The Group recognized profit of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 (profit of $0.1 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023) from the above company in which the equity method 
of accounting is followed and such income is included in other (income) expense, net in the 
consolidated statements of operations. The equity method of accounting is applied for these 
investments as the group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control, over the 
investees. 

Transactions with the equity method investees during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023 and the closing balances as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are 
as follows: 
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(in millions of dollars)
2024 2023

Transactions
Cost of goods sold 8.7$                        9.2$                        
Other operating income 1.6                          1.4                          

2024 2023
Closing balances

Included in Due from affiliates 1.5$                        1.3$                        
Included in Due to affiliates                             -                             1.3  

8. Leases 

The Group entered into operating leases for certain facilities and equipment used in operations. As 
of December 31, 2024, operating leases are having remaining lease term up to 28 years. Some 
operating leases contain renewal options. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise these renewal 
options, the options are considered in determining the lease term. 

The Group entered into finance leases covering certain machinery and equipment.  

As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the gross amount of assets under Finance leases 
and related accumulated amortization reflected in property, plant and equipment, net recorded were 
as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

14.0$                       18.7$                         
14.0                        18.7                           
(5.6)                         (9.0)                           

8.4$                        9.7$                           

Less: Accumulated amortisation

Machinery and equipment
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The following table summarizes the leases recorded on the Balance Sheet:
(in millions of dollars)

Right-of-use assets: 2024 2023
Operating leases 61.4$                   49.7$                 
Finance leases 8.4                      9.7                    

Total right-of-use assets 69.8$                   59.4$                 

Lease liabilities:
Operating leases 64.8$                   51.8$                 
Finance leases 9.2                      10.6                  

Total lease liabilities 74.0$                   62.4$                 

The following table summarizes the lease costs: 2024 2023
Variable lease cost 0.8$                    0.6$                  
Operating lease cost 18.5                    13.9                  
Finance lease cost:

Amortisation 0.9                      0.9                    
Interest 0.4                      0.4                    

Short-term lease cost 5.5                      4.5                    
Total lease costs 26.1$                   20.3$                 

Weighted-average remaining lease term: 2024 2023

Operating leases  10 years  13 years 
Finance leases  10 years   11 years 

Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating leases 5.5% 5.5%
Finance leases 3.8% 3.8%

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

a. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Cash used in operations for operating leases 18.0$                  12.4$                
Cash used in operations for finance leases 0.4                      0.4                    
Payments made on finance leases 0.5                      0.7                    

b. Right-of-use assets recognised for operating leases 30.6                    13.4                  

(in millions of dollars) Finance 
leases 

Operating 
leases

2025 1.2$                    18.9$                
2026 1.2                      11.6                  
2027 1.2                      8.4                    
2028 1.2                      6.9                    
2029 1.2                      5.5                    
Thereafter 5.2                      44.2                  
Gross lease liabilities 11.2                    95.5                  
Less: Imputed  interest (2.0)                     (30.7)                 
Lease liabilities 9.2$                     64.8$                 

The following table summarizes the  supplemental cash flow information relating to leases: 

The following table provides the expected future minimum maturities of lease obligations as of 
December 31, 2024
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9. Composition of certain Balance Sheet items: 

a. Accrued liabilities 

Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 consist of the following: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Accrued goods and services received 9.6$                        9.0$                       
Accrued interest 20.1                        26.0                       
Liabilities for factoring 12.1                        11.5                       
Provisions for severance plans 5.9                          -                        
Environmental liabilities (Refer note 16) 1.8                          2.4                        
Finance leases - current portion 0.8                          0.9                        
Operating leases - current portion 18.6                        12.8                       
Advance from customers 0.6                          0.7                        
Payable to employees 6.7                          8.5                        
Other accrued liabilities 10.4                        8.9                        

86.6$                       80.7$                      

b. Other non-current liabilities: 

Other non-current liabilities at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 consist of the following: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Environmental liabilities (Refer note 16) 12.2$                       14.5$                     
Operating leases - non current portion 46.2                        39.0                       
Finance leases - non current portion 8.4                          9.7                        
Other non - current liabilities 3.7                          2.8                        

70.5$                       66.0$                      

c. Inventories: 

Inventories at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 consist of the following: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Raw materials 130.4$                       157.7$                     
Finished goods 128.6                        134.4                      
Work in progress 18.7                          18.6                       
Materials and supplies 69.6                          75.6                       

347.3                        386.3                      

Less: Reserve for inventories (12.7)                        (27.9)                      

334.6$                      358.4$                     
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10. Income Taxes 

a) For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, income from operations before taxes consists 
of the following: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

United States Operations (60.3)$          (18.0)$          
Foreign Operations 17.0             (70.2)            

Total (43.3)$          (88.2)$           

b) Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Current:
U.S. Federal 6.6$             2.6$             
U.S. State & local 0.5               0.4               
Foreign jurisdiction 7.9               15.4             

15.0             18.4             
Deferred:

U.S. Federal 0.2$             6.6$             
U.S. State & local -               0.3               
Foreign jurisdiction (1.0)              3.1               

(0.8)              10.0             

Total income tax expense 14.2$            28.4$             

c) The income tax expense differs from the amounts that would be determined through the 
application of the federal statutory rate to pre-tax income as reflected below: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Federal income tax expense based on 21% of pre-tax income (9.1)$            (18.5)$          
State income tax expense, net of federal effect (0.1)              (1.8)              
Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (GILTI) 1.1               0.7               
Permanent differences - On Goodwill Impairment -               20.5             
Permanent differences - On others 6.4               5.6               
Impact of tax rate changes (0.4)              (0.3)              
Effects of tax-exempt income and other deductions (10.2)            (3.0)              
Change in valuation allowance 22.2             22.0             
Effects of additional taxes for prior years 1.3               0.6               
Impact of differences in tax rates between jurisdictions (0.2)              (5.8)              
Tax effects of tax base transfers -               2.6               
Taxes on un-distributed foreign earnings 0.7               1.2               
Non-deductible expenses 1.4               4.1               
Other 1.1               0.5               

Total income tax expense 14.2$            28.4$             

d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and 
are measured using the tax rates expected to be in effect in future years. 
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Significant components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities were the following: 
 

 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Deferred tax assets
Basis difference of property, plant, and equipment 0.2$                0.5$                
Intangible assets 4.1                  4.1                  
Pension  13.1                16.9                
Foreign Tax Credit 6.9                  6.3                  
Interest carried forward 66.4                50.6                
Net operating loss carryforward 31.3                28.3                
Lease Liability 18.1                15.3                
Other 8.7                  8.1                  
Total 148.8              130.1              
Less: Valuation allowance (102.3)             (85.3)               

Total deferred tax assets (A) 46.5                44.8                

Deferred tax liabilities
Basis difference of property, plant, and equipment 44.7                46.4                
Intangible assets 6.2                  7.4                  
Taxes on un-distributed foreign earnings 2.6                  1.9                  
Right-of-use asset 17.0                14.4                
Other 10.4                7.5                  

Total deferred tax liabilities (B) 80.9                77.6                

Net deferred tax asset / (liability) (A-B) (34.4)$             (32.8)$              
 

Based upon the level of historical taxable income, reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projections for 
future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible and tax-
planning strategies, management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the 
benefits of these deductible differences, net of the existing valuation allowances as at December 31, 
2024. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could vary based on 
actual results. 

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $102.3 
million and $85.3 million, respectively. The net change in the total valuation allowance was an 
increase of $17.0 million during year ended December 31, 2024 out of which $22.2 million was 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income and $5.2 million was reversed in the consolidated 
statement of other comprehensive income. ($24.4 million during year ended December 31, 2023 out 
of which $22.0 million was recognized in the consolidated statement of income and $2.4 million was 
recognized in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income) 

The net change in the total valuation allowance was an increase of $24.4 million during year ended 
December 31, 2023 which was recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have net operating loss carryforwards for US Federal 
income tax purposes. The Group has $33.1 million of net operating loss carryforwards for state 
income tax purposes, of which $24.2 million, which are available to offset future state taxable income, 
if any for indefinite period and $8.9 million are available to offset future state taxable income, if any 
until 2045. A Deferred tax asset amounting to $2.0 million was recognized on these state net 
operating loss carryforwards. On the above Deferred tax asset, Valuation allowance of $1.5 million 
was recognized during 2023 and continued in 2024. 

In addition, the Group has foreign jurisdiction net operating losses of $97.3 million, which is available 
for indefinite period. For such net operating losses, the Group has deferred tax assets being carried 
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at Nil (net of valuation allowances of $28.3 million) as at December 31, 2024, as it is more likely than 
not that the same will not be realized. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have net operating loss carryforwards for US Federal 
income tax purposes. The Group has $32.9 million of net operating loss carryforwards for state 
income tax purposes, of which $24.0 million, which are available to offset future state taxable income, 
if any for indefinite period and $8.9 million are available to offset future state taxable income, if any 
until 2045. A Deferred tax asset amounting to $2.0 million was recognized on this state net operating 
loss carryforwards. On the above Deferred tax asset, Valuation allowance of $1.5 million was 
recognized during 2023. In addition, the Group has foreign jurisdiction net operating losses of $76.5 
million, which is available for indefinite period. For such net operating losses, the Group has deferred 
tax assets being carried at Nil (net of valuation allowances of $22.5 million) as at December 31, 2023, 
as it is more likely than not that the same will not be realized. 

For the year 2024, at the time of finalizing financials statements, the company has undistributed 
earnings generated by their foreign subsidiaries of approximately $16.4 million which are subject to 
GILTI required by the 2017 Tax Act. Based on currently available information, the company’s GILTI 
tax for the year 2024 is estimated to be $1.3 million approximately, net of foreign tax credit. 

Further, the Group based on planned dividends from its subsidiaries in India and Canada have 
recorded deferred tax liabilities net of foreign tax credits amounting to $2.6 million as at December 
31, 2024 ($1.9 million as at December 31, 2023) 

Subject to above, the Company either does not have any tax implication on distribution of dividends 
from other jurisdictions or intends to indefinitely reinvest other earnings, as well as future earnings 
from our foreign subsidiaries within the respective subsidiary’s operations. In addition, they expect 
future U.S. cash generation will be sufficient to meet future U.S. cash needs. 

The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries (collectively known as U.S. Group) executed tax-sharing 
agreements with Rain Commodities (USA) Inc. (“RCUSA”), an entity under common control and the 
ultimate holding company in The United States of America, and files its tax return on a consolidated 
basis and accounts for income tax expense using the separate return method. 

RCUSA has filed its 2023 U.S. tax return on due date i.e. October 15, 2024 where total tax for that 
year stood to be $ 1.3 million. 

Certain group companies in Germany have entered into a profit and loss transfer agreement and 
have created a fiscal unity for the purpose of paying corporate income taxes in Germany. The 
German fiscal unity contains Rain Carbon GmbH (“RCGmbH”) as controlling entity and other German 
group companies as controlled entities within the fiscal unity. The fiscal income as per local GAAP of 
these controlled entities are fully allocated to RCGmbH and income tax expense or benefit is 
recognized at that level. 

The Group is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various states and foreign jurisdictions. The U.S. 
federal tax returns have been audited through 2019. Foreign and U.S. state jurisdictions have 
statutes of limitations generally ranging from 3 to 7 years. Years in major jurisdictions that remain 
open to examination are the U.S. (2021 onward for Federal and state purposes), Belgium (2022 
onward), Germany (2020 onward), Canada (2020 onward) and India (2011 onward). The Group is 
currently under examination in certain foreign tax jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2024, 
management does not anticipate the outcome of these examinations to result in a material change 
to its financial position. 

Joint venture operations restructuring 

During 2023, Rain Carbon GmbH, Germany had transferred 65.3% shares in Severtar Holding 
Limited, Cyprus to Rain Holding Limited, UAE. (Refer note 18 for details). Rain Carbon GmbH, 
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Germany had also transferred 100% interest in Rain Carbon BV, Belgium subsidiary to Rain Carbon 
Inc., USA. Due to these internal restructurings, the Rain US Tax Group is estimating tax expense of 
Nil (previous year: $ 0.7 million). While filing the 2023 tax return in October 2024, the tax expense 
because of these internal restructurings stood at $ 3.4 million. 

11. Debt and Credit Facilities 

Debt consists of the following borrowings as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023: 

(in millions of dollars) Reference 2024 2023

Senior secured notes, interest payable (i) 43.7$                 49.8$                          
 at 7.25%, principal due April 2025

Senior secured notes, interest payable (i) 450.0                450.0                         
 at 12.25%, principal due August 2029

Term loan B, interest payable at EURIBOR (ii) 322.7                380.2                         
 plus 5%, principal due by October 2028

Revolving credit facility, interest payable (iii) 85.2                 94.1                           
at SOFR plus 2.5% for USD borrowings
and EURIBOR plus 2.5% for EUR borrowings

Other credit facilities (iv) 11.0                 8.3                             

912.6                982.4                         

Less: Deferred Financing cost, net of amortisation 14.9                 21.0                           

Less: Short-term and current portion of long-term debt 139.9                105.3                         

757.8$              856.1$                        

The scheduled principal payments on the short-term and long-term debt for each of the next five 
years are as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024

2025 139.9
2026 5.9
2027 18.4
2028 298.4
2029 450.0
Thereafter -

912.6$                  

(i) On March 31, 2017, the Company issued $550.0 million of 7.25% Senior Secured Notes maturing in 
April 2025 (the “2025 Notes”). The 2025 Notes contain covenants that limit the Group's ability to, 
among other things, pay cash dividends, incur additional debt and make investments. The Group has 
the option to redeem some or all of the 2025 Notes at any time on or after April 1, 2020 up to March 
31, 2023 at specified redemption premium prices. The 2025 Notes are secured by substantially all of 
the assets of the Group and are guaranteed by the subsidiaries incorporated in United States on a 
joint and several basis. 

 
 The Company repurchased 2025 notes amounting to $6.1 million during the year ended December 

31, 2024 and $20.2 million during the prior years which were redeemed in 2023. 
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 During August 2023, the Company issued Senior Secured Notes maturing in September 2029 (“2029 
Notes”) for $450.0 million. The proceeds from 2029 Notes together with existing cash was used to 
repay 2025 Notes of $480.0 million with offered tender price leaving $49.8 million outstanding. 

 
 The 2029 Notes are issued at an interest rate of 12.25% (fixed) and are guaranteed by the Company 

and its subsidiaries in Belgium, Canada, Germany and the USA. The 2029 Notes and 2025 Notes 
have second-lien priority on assets after Revolving Credit Facilities and Euro Term loan B ("TLB").  

 
 2025 Notes balance (gross of transaction costs) as at December 31, 2024 was $43.7 million and as 

at December 31, 2023 was $49.8 million.  
 
 2029 Notes balance (gross of transaction costs) as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $450.0 

million. 
 

(ii) On January 16, 2018, Rain Carbon GmbH ("RCG"), a subsidiary of the Group in Europe issued TLB 
of € 390.0 million with a maturity date of January 2025. Interest rate on the TLB was EURIBOR 
(subject to a 0.0% floor) plus 3% (floating). The TLB is First Lien Debt having priority over 2025 Notes. 
The TLB includes certain covenants and conditions that limit the restricted group’s ability to, among 
other things, pay cash dividends, incur additional debt and make investments. The TLB was secured 
by substantially all of the assets of RCI and is guaranteed by RCI and its subsidiaries in Belgium, 
Canada, Germany and the USA.  
 

 During August 2023, RCG amended and extended the maturity of the TLB amounting to € 353.5 
million till October 2028 and repaid the balance principal of € 36.5 million. The amended TLB issued 
at an interest rate of EURIBOR (subject to a 0.0% floor) plus 5% (floating) and are guaranteed by 
RCI and its subsidiaries in Belgium, Canada, Germany and the USA. The amended TLB has 
mandatory amortization payments of 2.5% - 5% in subsequent years along with additional payments 
in case of excess cash flows. In 2024, the Group has repaid amount of € 32.9 million. 

 
 Balance (gross of transaction costs) as at December 31, 2024 was $ 322.7 million (€ 310.6 million) 

and as at December 31, 2023: $380.2 million (€ 343.5 million). 
 

(iii) On January 16, 2018, certain Group Companies in North America and Europe entered into a Revolver 
Credit Facility (RCF) Agreement with three banks. During the year 2023, the Group amended the 
credit agreement and increased the commitment amount from $ 200.0 million to $ 260.0 million and 
added a fourth bank. The commitment has a sub-limit of $ 100.0 million towards Letter of Credit and 
Bank Guarantee with an option to use entire commitment towards cash drawings. The facility was 
extended till January 2027. The interest rates are variable and depend on currency of the borrowing 
and financial leverages. As at December 31, 2024 interest rate for USD borrowings was SOFR plus 
250 basis points (December 31, 2023: SOFR plus 250 basis points) and for EURO borrowings is 
EURIBOR plus 250 basis points (December 31, 2023: EURIBOR plus 250 basis points). 
 
The RCF is secured and guaranteed by substantially all of the assets of the Company and its 
subsidiaries in Belgium, Canada, Germany and the USA. 
 
At December 31, 2024 cash drawings outstanding under the RCF aggregated to $ 85.2 million 
 (€ 82.0 million) which is EUR borrowings.   
 
At December 31, 2023 cash drawings outstanding under the RCF aggregated to $ 94.1 million (€ 
85.0 million). 
 
At December 31, 2024, letters of credit and bank guarantees outstanding aggregated $ 35.1 million 
($ 24.6 million at December 31, 2023) 
  
Available limit under the facility amounts to $ 139.7 million and $ 141.3 million as at December 31, 
2024 and 2023 respectively. 
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(iv) Other Credit facilities: 
 

During 2013, the Group Company incorporated in India, entered into agreements with four banks for 
an aggregated facility amount of $ 88.7 million (December 31, 2023: $ 91.7 million) which can be 
utilized for cash drawings in the form of cash credit, packing credit, suppliers credit or working capital 
demand loan or for issuance of letter of credits and bank guarantees. Outstanding letters of credit 
issued under these facilities are subject to a fee of 0.75% per annum. Cash drawings under these 
facilities are subject to interest rate of SOFR plus 100 basis points and SOFR plus 55-135 basis 
points per annum (December 31, 2023: SOFR plus 50-135 basis points per annum) and are 
repayable on demand or for a period of six to twelve months as per the facility utilised. 

 
 These facilities are secured by pari-passu first charge over current assets and movable assets 

comprising of all inventories and book debts both present and future of the said company. 
 
 At December 31, 2024, cash drawings outstanding under packing credit foreign currency loan 

aggregated to $ 5.2 million (December 31, 2023: $ 7.6 million). 
 
 At December 31, 2024, cash drawings outstanding under Buyers credit facility aggregated to $5.8 

million (December 31, 2023: Nil) 
 
 At December 31, 2024, letters of credit outstanding were $ 33.8 million (December 31, 2023: $ 18.1 

million) and bank guarantees outstanding were $ 0.9 million (December 31, 2023: $ 2.3 million) under 
the facility. 

 
  Available limit under all credit facilities amounts to $ 43.0 million (December 31, 2023: $ 62.4 million) 

 
12. Capital Structure 

The capital structure of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 is as 
follows: 

Shares
Issued and

Outstanding

Common stock - Voting 0.00001$      5,000           1                 

AuthorizedPar value

 

The outstanding common shares of the Company are wholly owned by RCUSA, a direct wholly 
owned subsidiary of Rain Industries Limited (RIL) 

13. Post-retirement Benefits 

The Group complies with the U.S. GAAP around Compensation–Retirement Benefits, which requires 
an employer that sponsors a single-employer defined benefit plan to (a) recognize the overfunded or 
underfunded status of a benefit plan in its statement of financial position, (b) recognize as a 
component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or losses and prior service costs or 
credits that arise during the period but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost 
pursuant to ASC 715 – Compensation – Retirement Benefits, (c) measure defined benefit plan assets 
and obligations as of the date of the employer’s fiscal year-end, and (d) disclose in the notes to 
financial statements additional information about certain effects on net periodic benefit cost for the 
next fiscal year that arise from delayed recognition of the gains or losses, prior service costs or 
credits, and transition assets or obligations. 
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Pension and other post-retirement benefits are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of 
ASC 715 and are funded to at least meet the minimum funding requirements as required by law. Prior 
service costs are amortized to net periodic costs on the straight-line basis over the average remaining 
service period of employees expected to receive pension benefits. The estimated cost of post-
retirement benefits other than pensions is accrued during the employee’s active service period. 

The Group records annual amounts relating to its pension and post-retirement plans based on 
calculations that incorporate various actuarial and other assumptions, including discount rates, 
mortality, assumed rates of return, compensation increases, turnover rates, and healthcare cost trend 
rates. The Group reviews its assumptions on an annual basis and makes modifications to the 
assumptions based on current rates and trends when it is appropriate to do so. The effect of 
modifications to those assumptions is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and 
amortized to net periodic cost on the straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of 
employees expected to receive pension benefits. The Group believes that the assumptions utilized 
in recording its obligations under its plans are reasonable based on its experience and market 
conditions. 

The Group follows the disclosure provisions of ASC 715, which standardizes the disclosures for 
pensions and other post-retirement benefit plans. 

Pension and Gratuity 
 
The Group sponsors the following defined benefit plans: 

a. The Group has a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain hourly employee 
in the United States. Benefits under the hourly employees’ plan are based on years of service 
and age. The Group’s funding policy is to contribute amounts to meet minimum funding 
requirements, plus additional amounts as the Group may determine to be appropriate. 

b. In respect of subsidiary companies in Belgium, Canada and Germany, the Group has defined 
benefit retirement plans covering its employees. Pension provisions are recognized for 
obligations due to benefit plans for old age, invalidity, and surviving dependents' benefits. 
Benefits vary according to the legal, tax, and economic circumstances prevailing in each relevant 
country. Benefits are usually based on the length of service and final salary of employees. In 
respect of subsidiary in Canada, the pension plan is closed for any new participant since 2012. 

c. In respect of the subsidiary company in India, the Group has defined benefit gratuity plan 
covering all its employees. Gratuity provisions are recognized based on the years of service and 
age. The Group’s funding policy is to contribute amounts to meet minimum funding requirements, 
plus additional amounts as the Group may determine to be appropriate. 

The projected benefit obligation is the present value of benefits earned to date by plan 
participants. Plan assets are measured at fair value. Changes in projected benefit obligations 
and plan assets, and the funded status of the pension and gratuity plans were as follows for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
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(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Change in projected benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 155.3$                     132.1$                     
Service cost 3.7                           3.8                           
Interest cost 5.2                           5.4                           
Amendments (0.4)                          -                           
Plan participant contributions 1.1                           1.2                           
Actuarial (Gain)/loss (7.5)                          12.9                         
Administrative expenses and premiums paid (0.6)                          (0.5)                          
Benefits paid (5.0)                          (4.4)                          
Foreign currency exchange rate changes (9.2)                          4.8                           

Benefit obligation at end of year (A) 142.6                       155.3                       

Changes in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 56.4$                       50.7$                       
Actual return on plan assets 3.1                           4.7                           
Employer contributions 4.4                           3.3                           
Plan participant contributions 1.2                           1.2                           
Benefits paid (5.0)                          (4.4)                          
Administrative expenses and premiums paid (0.6)                          (0.5)                          
Foreign currency exchange rate changes (3.6)                          1.4                           

Fair value of plan assets at end of year (B) 55.9                         56.4                         

Net obligation at end of year (A-B) 86.7$                       98.9$                        
 
 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Accrued post-retirement benefits (non-current liabilities) 86.5                         98.8                         
Accrued post-retirement benefits (accrued liabilities) 0.2                           0.1                            

 
The net periodic cost for the defined benefit pension and gratuity plans was $4.8 million and $4.8 
million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The amount recognized in other comprehensive income / (loss) was loss of $5.8 million and gain of 
$11.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The following represents projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value 
of plan assets for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 
(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Projected benefit obligation 142.6$                     155.3$                     
Accumulated benefit obligation 134.7                       148.6                       
Fair value of plan assets 55.9                         56.3                          
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The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations and net periodic benefit 
cost were as follows:  
 

2024 2023
Benefit obligations
Discount rate 3.38% - 7.40% 3.17% - 7.85%

Net periodic benefit cost
Discount rate 3.17% - 7.85% 3.77% - 7.85%
Expected return on assets 1.60% - 7.00% 2.20% - 7.00%
Rate of compensation increase 2.92% - 8.50% 2.50% - 8.50%  

 
The Group’s pension and gratuity plans weighted-average asset allocations by asset category were 
as follows: 

2024 2023
Asset category
Equity securities 55% 56%
Debt securities 43% 43%
Others 1% 2%

100% 100%  
 

As of December 31, 2024, the long-term rate of return reflects the defined benefit pension and gratuity 
plans’ current assets mix with assumed average annual returns of approximately 2.70% to 6.00% for 
debt securities and 4.10% to 12.00% for equity securities and 1.20% to 8.00% for others. 
 
The defined benefit pension and gratuity plans investment portfolio is adjusted periodically to maintain 
the current ratios of debt securities and equity securities. Additional consideration is given to the 
plan’s historical returns as well as future long-range projections of investment returns for each asset 
category. 
 
The total net gain and prior service cost that will be reversed from accumulated other comprehensive 
income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $1.8 million. 

 
The Group expects to contribute $4.1 million to the defined benefit pension and gratuity plans during 
the year ending December 31, 2025. 

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected 
to be paid:  
 

(in millions of dollars) Expected
Benefit

Fiscal Years Ending Payments

2025 5.1$                         
2026 5.1                           
2027 5.1                           
2028 7.1                           
2029 6.8                           
2030-2034 39.2                          
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Other post-retirement benefits 
One of the subsidiaries in Canada has non-pension post-employment benefit plans for the purpose 
of providing medical and dental benefits for retirees and eligible dependents and life insurance for 
retirees. The subsidiary sponsors the plans by contributing cash as benefits are paid. No assets have 
been segregated and restricted to provide for the plan. 

Changes in projected benefit obligations and plan assets, and the funded status of the Group’s 
post-retirement plan were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Change in projected benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 5.7$                    5.3$                    
Service cost 0.3                      0.3                      
Interest cost 0.3                      0.3                      
Actuarial gain -                      (0.2)                     
Benefits paid (0.2)                     (0.2)                     
Foreign currency exchange rate changes (0.4)                     0.2                      

Benefit obligation at end of year (A) 5.7                      5.7                      

Changes in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year -$                    -$                    
Plan participant contributions 0.2                      -                      
Benefits paid (0.2)                     -                      

Fair value of plan assets at end of year (B) -                      -                      

Net obligation at end of year (A-B) 5.7$                    5.7$                     
 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Accrued benefit liability (5.7)                     (5.7)                     

Net amount recognized (5.7)$                   (5.7)$                    
 

The net periodic benefit cost for the defined benefit post-retirement plan was $0.5 million and $0.5 
million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
The amount recognized in other comprehensive income / (loss) was gain of $0.1 million and $0.2 
million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 
The following represents projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit obligation for the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 
(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Projected benefit obligation 5.7$                    5.7$                    
Accumulated benefit obligation 5.7                      5.7                       

 
The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations and net periodic benefit 
costs were as follows: 
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2024 2023

Discount rate – Benefit obligations 4.70% 4.65%
Discount rate – Net periodic benefit cost 4.65% 5.25%  

 
The assumed health care costs trend rates were as follows: 
 

2024 2023

Initial trend rate 5.54% 5.60%
Ultimate trend rate 4.00% 4.00%
Year ultimate trend rate is reached 2040 2040  
 

The total net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plans will be amortized from 
accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year. 
 
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected 
to be paid: 
 
(in millions of dollars) Expected

Benefit
Fiscal Years Ending Payments

2025 0.2                      
2026 0.2                      
2027 0.3                      
2028 0.3                      
2029 0.3                      
2030-2034 1.6                       

 
Defined Contribution Plan 
The Group has below contribution plans: 

a. One of the subsidiary companies in the United States has established separate group savings 
plans for certain hourly and all salaried employees in the United States. The Group has plan 
contribution of dollar-for-dollar match up to 6%. The Group has contributed amount of $1.1 million 
and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, under this plan. 

b. In respect of subsidiary companies in Belgium, Canada, and India, the Group has 
Superannuation and contribution plans covering its employees. The Group makes monthly 
contributions and has no further obligations under the plan beyond its contributions. The Group 
contributed amounts of $0.4 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, under these plans. 

14. Segment Information 

The Carbon and Advanced Materials best define the operating segments of the business that are 
reported separately. The factors used to identify these reportable segments are based on the nature 
of the products that are manufactured, sold, and distributed by each segment. 

Carbon is comprised of Calcined Petroleum Coke (CPC), Coal Tar Pitch (“CTP”), Energy produced 
through Waste-heat recovery and other derivatives of Coal Tar distillation including Creosote, 
Naphthalene Oil, Carbon Black Oil and Other Oils.  
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Advanced Materials represent the downstream operations of Coal Tar distillation and are comprised 
of Engineered Products, Chemical Intermediaries and Resins. 

These have been defined as the operating segments of the Group because they are the segments 
(1) that engage in business activities from which revenue is earned and expenses are incurred; 
(2) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and 
(3) for which discrete financial information is available. 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker. The Chief Executive Officer of the Group is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments and accordingly is identified as the 
chief operating decision maker. 

The Group evaluates performance and determines resource allocations based on a number of factors, 
the primary measure being EBITDA. EBITDA does not include depreciation, amortization, 
impairment, interest, and income taxes. All inter segment transactions are accounted for at agreed 
upon rates based on transfer pricing agreements. 

The accounting principles used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
consistently applied to record revenue and expenditures in individual segment, and are set out in 
significant accounting policies.         

Certain items are not specifically allocable to individual segments as the underlying services are used 
interchangeably and accordingly the Group believes that it is not practical to provide segment 
disclosures relating to such items. 

Results of segment operations are as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023
Revenue from external customers:

Carbon 1,140.1$                     1,545.1$                    
Advanced Materials 404.5                        390.1                        

1,544.6                     1,935.2                     
Intersegment revenue:

Carbon 71.4                          80.5                          
Advanced Materials 39.4                          64.9                          

110.8                        145.4                        

Carbon 112.6                        153.4                        
Advanced Materials 29.8                          26.1                          

142.4$                      179.5$                      

Earnings before Interest, tax, impairment, Depreciation 
and amortisation (EBITDA):

 

The following table reconciles income before income taxes to EBITDA on a consolidated basis as 
calculated by us for the years indicated below: 
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(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Income / (loss) before income taxes (43.3)$                        (88.2)$                        
Interest expense / (income), net 102.9                        88.4
Depreciation and amortisation 74.2                          78.8
Long-lived asset impairment loss 8.6                            3.1
Goodwill impairment loss -                            97.4

EBITDA 142.4$                      179.5$                       

There is no external customer that amounts to 10 percent or more of the Group's revenues. 

Assets by segment: As certain assets of the Group are often deployed interchangeably between 
segments, it is impractical to allocate these assets and liabilities to each segment. Hence, the details 
for segment assets and liabilities have not been disclosed.   

Revenue by geographic area is as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

United States 285.6$                        360.6$                        

International 1,259.0                      1,574.6                      
Total 1,544.6$                     1,935.2$                     

International by region
North America excluding United States 306.7$                        427.1$                        
South America 31.1                           28.4                           
Europe including CIS 574.2                         693.8                         
Middle East 66.7                           97.1                           
Africa 67.0                           53.1                           
Australia and others 5.5                            30.6                           
Asia excluding Middle East 207.8                         244.5                         

1,259.0$                     1,574.6$                      

 Property, plant and equipment, net by geographic area are as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

United States 137.2$                        147.5$                        

International 370.3                         401.0                         

Total 507.5$                        548.5$                        

International by region
North America excluding United States 44.7$                          43.5$                          
Europe including CIS 251.2                         277.6                         
Asia excluding Middle East 74.4                           79.9                           

370.3$                        401.0$                         
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15. Related Party Transactions 

The Group has entered into transactions with the following related enterprises: 

a. Rain Industries Limited (“RIL”) – ultimate holding company incorporated in India  

b. Rain Commodities (USA) Inc. (“RCUSA”) – holding company incorporated in The United States 
of America 

c. Rain Cements Limited (“RCL”) – wholly owned subsidiary of RIL incorporated in India 

d. OOO Rain Carbon LLC (“RCLLC”) – wholly owned subsidiary of RIL incorporated in Russia 

e. Rain Holding Limited (“RHL”) - wholly owned subsidiary of RIL incorporated in United Arab 
Emirates 

f. Severtar Holding ILLC (“SHILLC”) - subsidiary of RHL 

g. OOO Rutgers Severtar (“OSEVR”) – wholly owned subsidiary of SHILLC incorporated in Russia 
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Related party transactions are as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

Revenue
- RCL 2.4$                         1.7$                         

 Cost of goods sold 
- RIL 8.1                        4.1                        

Dividend paid/declared
- RCUSA 8.0                        13.0                      
- RIL 2.0                        3.3                        

Interest Expense/(Income), net
- RCLLC -                       (0.2)                      
- RCUSA (0.3)                      (0.4)                      
- RHL 0.1                        (0.4)                      

Selling, general & administration expenses
- RIL 7.3                        5.9                        
- RCUSA 0.1                        0.1                        

Reimbursements from/(to)
- RCUSA -                       0.4                        

Loans given to
- RCUSA 2.0                        24.6                      

Loans repaid by
- RHL 5.4                        -                       
- RCUSA 2.0                        20.0                      

Preference dividend income
- RHL 27.1                      13.5                      

Corporate Guarantees given
- RIL 1.2                        20.5                      

Corporate Guarantees released
- RIL -                       20.0                      

Loans taken from
- RHL 13.7                      -                       

Loans repaid to
- RHL 13.7                      -                       

Related party balances are as follows:
2024 2023

Due from affiliates
- RCUSA 7.5                        9.1                        
- RCL 0.2                        0.3                        
- RHL 2.5                        40.8                      

Corporate Guarantees given
- RIL 21.0                      20.5                      

Due to affiliates
- RIL 1.8                        1.6                        
- RHL 0.1                        -                       
- OSEVR 2.2                        2.1                        

Loans given
- RHL -                       5.5                        

Loans taken
- SHILLC -                       0.7                         

Refer note 7 for transactions of the Group with equity method investee. 

Corporate guarantee is given by Subsidiary in India towards credit facility taken by RIL. 
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16. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Group is involved in litigation and various proceedings that arise from time to time incidental to 
the normal conduct of business. There have been claims against the Group towards various direct 
as well indirect taxes amounting to $22.0 million as at December 31, 2024 ($23.9 million as at 
December 31, 2023) which are not considered as probable. We recognize liabilities for contingencies 
and commitments when a loss is probable and estimable. The ultimate resolution of these 
contingencies is subject to uncertainty. It is possible that the Group may incur losses in connection 
with some of these matters in excess of accrued liabilities. Management does not anticipate that in 
the aggregate such losses would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position or 
liquidity; however, it is possible that the final outcomes could have a significant impact on the Group’s 
reported results of operations in any given period. 

Environmental matters 
 
The Group is subject to federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations and potential liabilities 
relating to the protection of the environment and human health and safety including, among other 
things, the cleanup of contaminated sites, the treatment, storage, and disposal of wastes, the 
discharge of effluent into waterways, the emission of substances into the air, and various health and 
safety matters. The Group may also face governmental or third-party claims or otherwise incurs costs, 
relating to cleanup of or for injuries resulting from, contamination at sites associated with past and 
present operations. The Group accrues for environmental liabilities when a determination can be 
made that a liability is probable and reasonably estimable. Such liabilities are measured at the 
present value of the best estimate of the cost of remediation as per agreed remediation plans. 
 

Changes in environmental liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as 
follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 2024 2023

16.9$                           17.2$                           

-                              3.7                              
(1.3)                             (1.2)                             
0.1                              0.1                              

Unused amounts reversed during the year (0.5)                             (3.4)                             
Foreign currency exchange rate changes (1.2)                             0.5                              

14.0$                           16.9$                           Balance at end of the year

Balance at beginning of year

Additional obligations incurred
Obligations settled during the year
Accretion expense

 

Of the above, environment liability of $ 1.8 million and $ 2.4 million are classified as accrued liabilities 
as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 

The equivalent un-discounted value of environment liability as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is 
$15.0 million and $17.5 million, respectively, depending on the duration of the environmental liability 
management uses interest rates of 1.95% to 2.48% at December 31, 2024 and 1.88% to 2.97% at 
December 31, 2023, to measure the present value of the environment liability. 
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Legal Proceedings 
 
a. During 2002, Group had disputed the order of Andhra Pradesh Electricity Regulatory Commission 

(‘APERC’) in respect of wheeling charges before the Honorable High Court of Andhra Pradesh, 
India. The Honorable High Court of Andhra Pradesh had set aside the order of APERC. 
Transmission Corporation of Andhra Pradesh (‘AP Transco’) filed a Special Leave Petition in the 
Honorable Supreme Court of India against the order of the Honorable High Court of Andhra 
Pradesh. 

 
On November 29, 2019, the Honorable Supreme court pronounced its judgement ordering that the 
wheeling charges are to be levied as per the tariff order passed by APERC. Subsequently, Group 
received a claim from various distribution companies amounting to $ 5.2 million (including other 
charges). The Group had issued a bank guarantee amounting to $ 1.7 million for the aforesaid 
matter and has disputed the aforesaid claim as the Management believes that the claim is not 
tenable based on the judgement given by the Honorable Supreme Court. 

 
b. APERC introduced grid support charges in Tariff Order FY 2002-03, where in the charges were 

payable by Captive Power Plants (‘CPP’) for using the infrastructure of the Discoms. Based on this, 
the Company has received a claim from Eastern Power Distribution Company of A.P. Limited 
(“APEPDCL”) toward Grid Support Charges. 

 
 On December 14, 2023, Andhra Pradesh Electricity Regulatory Commission (APERC), pronounced 

that, the levy of Grid support charges will only be to the extent of captive consumption and directed 
Eastern Power Distribution Company of A.P. Limited (APEPDCL), to revise the demand. The Group 
is awaiting revised demand order from APEPDCL. 

 
Other matters 
 
Estimated committed amounts of contracts remaining to be executed on capital accounts, net of 
capital advances is $5.5 million and $7.3 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 

17. Concentrations 

The Group maintains cash at banks, which at times may exceed federally insured limits. The group 
has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant 
risk from such accounts. 

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, two customers aggregated to approximately 22% and 21%, 
respectively, of the Group’s trade accounts receivable. Revenue from two customers aggregated to 
approximately 15% and 20% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. The group has not experienced any losses from transactions with such customers and 
does not believe it is exposed to any significant risk from such customers. 

 
Raw material purchases from three suppliers aggregated approximately 28.2% and 25.0% of total 
raw materials purchases for each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
The group has not experienced any losses from transactions with such suppliers and does not believe 
it is exposed to any significant risk from such suppliers. 
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18. Disposal of subsidiaries 

The Company, through its German subsidiary, previously owned 65.3% share of Cypriot joint 
venture company that wholly-owns a Russian operating company.  On June 30, 2023, the Group 
completed the sale of the said majority shares to another wholly-owned subsidiary of RIL outside of 
the Group for an aggregate consideration of $158.2 million (EUR 145.6 million) out of which $ 27.8 
million (EUR 25.6 million) in cash and $130.4 million (EUR 120.0 million) in exchange of investment 
in preference shares which are redeemable after completion of 21 years carrying cumulative 
dividend of EUR 25 million per annum. This resulted in a gain of $71.6 million during the year. Since 
the transaction carried is within common control, the gain has been recognized in equity (retained 
earnings) for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

19. Net investment in foreign operations 

During the year 2023, the Group has designated certain portion of inter-company loans between US 
and German subsidiary as net investment in financial operation with effect from October 1, 2023, 
considering the long-term nature of the same. Accordingly, the foreign exchange gain on such foreign 
currency loan recognized in the statement of income in the separate financial statements of the 
subsidiary is recognized directly through Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss) in Equity amounting 
to $10.2 million and $ (7.2) million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 in the 
accompanying financial statements. The same would be transferred to the statement of operations 
in case of de-designation/settlement in future. 

20. Subsequent event 

The Group has performed an evaluation of subsequent events from the balance sheet date through 
March 13, 2025, the date at which consolidated financial statements were made available to be 
issued and determined that there are no items to disclose except as below. 

 




















































